IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DENNIS VINCENT STANTON,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

VS.

TWYLA MARIE STANTON,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

Nevada Supreme Court Case No: 80910

Electronically Filed
District Court Case NMac V 2020 23043:51 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

APPELLANT/CROSS-RESPONDENT DENNIS VINCENT STANTON'S OPENING BRIEF

JOHN J. SAVAGE, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 11455 E-mail: jsavage@nevdafirm.com

HOLLEY DRIGGS

400 South Fourth Street, Third Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: 702/791-0308 Facsimile: 702/791-1912

Attorney for Appellant/Cross-Respondent Dennis Vincent Stanton

1	NRAP 20.1 DISCLUSURE

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- Nevada residents Appellant/Cross-Respondent Dennis Vincent Stanton ("Mr.
- 14 <u>Stanton</u>") and Respondent/Cross-Appellant Twyla Marie Stanton ("Mrs. Stanton"
- 15 and together with Mr. Stanton, the "Stantons") are both appealing the District
- 16 Court's order that set aside the Stantons' divorce decree and sanctioned Mr. Stanton
- 17 pursuant to a motion filed by Mrs. Stanton's stepfather, Robert Crawford, and
- 18 natural mother, Carmen Crawford (together with Mr. Crawford, the "Crawfords")
- 19 who are residents of Arkansas.

V. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

- 21 A. The Stantons Amicably and Jointly Petitioned for Divorce
- 22 1. On May 17, 2018, the Stantons filed their Joint Petition for Summary
- 23 Decree of Divorce with the District Court. JA000001-17, Vol. 1. The form used

- 1 was provided by the District Court for self-represented individuals. *Id.* As required,
- 2 both of the Stantons submitted notarized verifications. JA000009-10, Vol. 1.
- 3 2. On June 05, 2018, the Stantons filed their Amended Joint Petition for
- 4 Summary Decree of Divorce with the District Court ("Joint Petition"). JA000022-
- 5 38, Vol. 1. The form used was provided by the District Court for self-represented
- 6 individuals. *Id.* As required, both of the Stantons submitted notarized verifications.
- 7 JA000030-31, Vol. 1.
- 8 3. On June 07, 2018, the Stantons' New Decree of Divorce was granted
- 9 and entered by the District Court ("<u>Divorce Decree</u>"). JA000039-62, Vol. 1. The
- 10 Stantons again used the District Court's form to submit the Divorce Decree, which
- included notarized signatures from both of the Stantons. JA000050, Vol. 1.
- 4. On July 5, 2018, Mrs. Stanton filed an *Ex Parte* Application to Seal
- 13 File ("Sealing Application"). JA000067, Vol. 1.
- 5. On July 9, 2018, the District Court entered its Order Sealing File
- 15 ("<u>Sealing Order</u>"). JA000068, Vol. 1.
- B. Mrs. Stanton's Parents Improperly Interfered with the Stantons' Divorce Proceeding
- 6. On October 26, 2018, the Crawfords obtained an order granting them temporary guardianship of Mrs. Stanton in Arkansas. JA000050 at n.1, Vol. 1.
- 7. On November 20, 2018, the Crawfords caused an *Ex Parte* Application to Unseal Court Records to be filed ("*Ex Parte* Unsealing"), purportedly on behalf of Mrs. Stanton. JA000069-73, Vol. 1. Attached to the *Ex Parte* Unsealing as Exhibit 1 was the Order Appointing Temporary Co-Guardians of the Person and Estate ("Arkansas Order") from the Circuit Court of Faulkner County, Arkansas,

- 1 Probate Division 5th Division ("Arkansas Court") in case number 23PR-18-640
- 2 ("Arkansas Case"). JA000071-73, Vol. 1. However, the Ex Parte Unsealing made
- 3 no showing that the Arkansas Order was registered in Nevada. See id.
- 4 8. On November 27, 2018, the Crawfords filed First Joint
- 5 Petitioner/Plaintiff's Motion Pursuant to Rule 60(b) to Set Aside Decree of Divorce
- 6 as Fraudulently Obtained, to Dismiss the Joint Petition for Divorce with Prejudice,
- 7 and to Sanction Defendant for Forum Shopping and Perpetrating a Fraud Upon the
- 8 Court in the Full Amount of Plaintiff's Fees and Costs ("Motion to Set Aside").
- 9 JA000074-167, Vol. 1. The primary arguments set forth in the Motion to Set Aside
- were that Mrs. Stanton lacked capacity to enter into the Joint Petition and that Mr.
- 11 Stanton perpetrated a fraud upon the Court by including false information in the
- 12 Joint Petition, omitting material information from the Joint Petition, and
- manipulating Mrs. Stanton into signing the Joint Petition. *Id*.
- 9. Footnote 2 of the Motion to Set Aside asserts that a Psychological
- 15 Evaluation of Mrs. Stanton dated October 19, 2018 found Mrs. Stanton had an IQ
- of 69, but as discussed later, Mrs. Stanton challenged the Psychological Evaluation
- 17 when challenging the Crawfords' temporary guardianship because she was never
- evaluated for the Psychological Evaluation in person.² JA000075 at n.2, Vol. 1.
- 19 10. On November 28, 2018, the District Court entered its Order to Unseal

² The purported Psychological Evaluation was "submitted to the [District] Cour for its *in camera* inspection," and was not made part of the record below. JA000075 at

²³ n.2, Vol. 1. As a result, the Psychological Evaluation could not be included in the Joint Appendix. *See, e.g.*, JA000074-167, Vol. 1.

- 1 Court Record ("<u>Unsealing Order</u>"). JA000168, Vol. 1.
- 2 11. On December 13, 2018, Mr. Stanton filed an Ex Parte Motion for to
- 3 [sic] Extend the Time Required to File a Written Response to this [sic] Motion in
- 4 proper person ("Motion to Extend Time"), which sought additional time to retain
- 5 counsel to oppose the Motion to Set Aside and explained, inter alia, that Mrs.
- 6 Stanton had retained her own attorney and was disputing the Crawfords' allegations
- 7 of incapacity. JA000169-177, Vol. 1. Attached as Exhibit B to the Motion to Extend
- 8 Time was a copy of Mrs. Stanton's Response to Petitioner's Petition for
- 9 Appointment as Co-Guardians ("Objection to Guardianship"), which was filed in
- the Arkansas Case on December 6, 2018 by Mrs. Stanton's attorney, Ron Goodman.
- 11 JA000174-77, Vol. 1.
- 12. The Objection to Guardianship argued that Mrs. Stanton "had never
- 13 met or been examined by Dr. Ann Prather" before the Crawfords instituted the
- 14 Arkansas Case and that Mrs. Stanton disputed Dr. Prather's findings. JA000174 at
- 15 ¶ 5.
- 16 13. Mrs. Stanton requested to be examined by a physician of her choosing
- 17 or in the alternative have the records of her long-standing physician Dr. Pamela
- 18 Greenspun presented to the Arkansas Court. *Id.* at \P 6.
- 19 14. The Objection to Guardianship also argued that the Crawfords' true
- 20 motivation for seeking guardianship of Mrs. Stanton was to obtain funds on Mrs.
- 21 Stanton's behalf to convert for their use and benefit because they had loaned Mrs.
- 22 Stanton a large sum of money to pay for previous divorce proceedings. JA000175
- 23 at \P 8.

- 1 15. Mrs. Stanton requested the Arkansas Court to deny the Crawfords'
- 2 Petition for Guardianship and to continue the Arkansas Court's hearing to allow
- 3 Mrs. Stanton time to secure witness testimony and documents refuting the
- 4 Crawfords' allegations. *Id.* at $\P 9$.
- 5 16. On December 14, 2018, the District Court apparently ignored Mrs.
- 6 Stanton's Objection to Guardianship and entered its Court Order denying the
- 7 Motion to Extend on the grounds "the Court does not find that a continuance and
- 8 time to respond is in good faith and reasonably necessary." JA000178-79, Vol. 1.
- 9 17. On December 14, 2018, the Stantons were remarried. JA000207-209,
- 10 Vol. 1.
- 11 18. On December 26, 2018, Mr. Stanton, through retained counsel, filed
- 12 his Opposition to the Crawfords' Motion to Set Aside ("Set Aside Opposition") and
- 13 Countermotion to Strike Movant's Motion as Being Filed without Authority and in
- 14 a Direct Conflict of Interest, and for Attorney's Fees ("Countermotion").
- 15 JA000180-209, Vol. 1. The Set Aside Opposition argued numerous reasons why
- 16 the Motion to Set Aside should be denied, including the Crawfords' failure to
- 17 register the Arkansas Order, the inability of third-parties to collaterally attack a
- 18 valid divorce decree, Mrs. Stanton's Objection to Guardianship, the Crawfords'
- 19 lack of evidence to support their allegations of fraud, and the Stantons'
- 20 reconciliation and remarriage. JA000180-187, Vol. 1. The Countermotion asked the
- 21 District Court, inter alia, to strike the Crawfords' Motion to Set Aside because the
- 22 Crawfords were not proper parties. *Id*.
- 23 19. On January 2, 2019, the Crawfords filed their Reply to Mr. Stanton's

- 1 Set Aside Opposition and Opposition to Mr. Stanton's Countermotion. JA000210-
- 2 217, Vol. 1. Again, without supporting evidence, the Crawfords made salacious
- 3 allegations against Mr. Stanton claiming that he was continuing to manipulate Mrs.
- 4 Stanton. *Id.* The Crawfords also implied Mrs. Stanton's Objection to Guardianship
- 5 and the Stantons' remarriage were somehow part of a devious plot Mr. Stanton had
- 6 devised. *Id*.
- 7 20. On January 4, 2019, the Affidavit of Twyla M. Stanton in Regards to
- 8 the Signing and Filing of the New Decree of Divorce and the Amended Joint
- 9 Petition for Summary Decree of Divorce was filed with the District Court ("Mrs.
- 10 Stanton's Affidavit"). JA000218-220, Vol. 1. Mrs. Stanton's Affidavit was signed
- on June 18, 2018 and explained, among other things, that she understood and agreed
- with the Stantons' Joint Petition and the Divorce Decree.
- C. Without an Evidentiary Hearing or Supporting Evidence, the District Court Improperly Set Aside the Stantons' Divorce Decree Based on Assumptions and Arguments
- 15 21. On January 7, 2019, the District Court heard oral argument on the
- 16 Crawfords' Motion to Set Aside and Mr. Stanton's Countermotion ("Non-
- 17 Evidentiary Hearing"). JA000221-266, Vol. 2.
- During the Non-Evidentiary Hearing, the District Court stated twice
- 19 that it would need an evidentiary hearing to determine whether there was
- 20 wrongdoing by the Stantons. JA000244:5-8, JA000250:11-13, Vol. 2.
- 21 23. The District Court commended Mr. Stanton's counsel for raising the
- 22 evidentiary issues as a defense to protect Mr. Stanton's interests: "You're noting
- 23 the lack of evidentiary issues that haven't been adjudicated in this court, perhaps

- 1 not in other courts...." JA000242:8-9, Vol. 2.
- 2 24. The District Court admittedly "just assumed, based on [Mrs.
- 3 Stanton's limited mental capacity, that it would be easy for [Mr. Stanton] to
- 4 manipulate her into a stipulation that he gets custody of the kids...." JA000232: 4-
- 5 7, Vol. 2 (emphasis added).
- 6 25. While arguing that Mrs. Stanton lacked capacity to take care of herself,
- 7 the Crawford's attorney simultaneously argued that Mrs. Stanton "should probably
- 8 be awarded custody despite her mental status." JA000235:5-6, Vol. 2.
- 9 26. The District Court also made improper *ad hominem* remarks during
- 10 the Non-Evidentiary Hearing, implying he was not a "normal citizen" and calling
- 11 him "manipulative and Machiavellian." JA000221 at ln. 23-24, Vol. 2. The District
- 12 Court also made disparaging remarks about the Stantons' church, stating "I've
- 13 never heard of a church where it's important that you get the custody and stuff...."
- 14 JA000262:9-11, Vol. 2.
- 15 27. Finally, despite twice stating it would need an evidentiary hearing to
- 16 determine whether there was wrongdoing by the Stantons and assuring Mr.
- 17 Stanton's attorney "that if there was a jury here, and there was an objection about
- 18 speculation, I'd sustain it and so forth," the District Court asked for an order to be
- 19 prepared finding a Rule 11 violation with findings of fact and conclusions of law.
- 20 JA000237:18-20, JA000250:22 to JA000251:13, Vol. 2.
- 21 28. On March 18, 2019, the District Court entered the Subject Judgment,
- 22 which granted the Crawfords' Motion to Set Aside, denied Mr. Stanton's
- 23 Countermotion, set aside the Stantons' Divorce Decree, and awarded sanctions to

- 1 the Crawfords in the amount of \$3,000.00 "based upon a review of the record,
- 2 arguments of counsel, and the totality of circumstances ([Non-Evidentiary
- 3 Hearing])" finding the following as set forth in paragraph 10 of the Subject
- 4 Judgment's Conclusions of Law:
- 5 a. Dennis' conduct was and is in direct violation of NRCP(b)(1) as the filings as previously described were filed for no reason other than to delay³ and harass⁴, and needlessly increase the cost of litigation;⁵ and
- b. In further violation of NRCP 11(b)(3) as Dennis has caused to make false representations of fact as to Twyla's earnings in the Third Divorce Action and with this Court.

10 JA000267-273, Vol. 2.

7

20

11 29. Despite the fact that the District Court's approved form for self-12 represented individuals to petition the District Court for a divorce does not request 13 any information about previous litigation, the District Court also found that Mr. 14 Stanton had perpetrated a fraud upon the District Court by failing to disclose 15 Stantons' following previous divorce proceedings in their Joint Petition: (a) Eighth Judicial District Court ("EJDC") competing divorce complaints in consolidated 16 17 case numbers D-16-540966-D and D-16-541006-D (collectively the "First Divorce" 18 Action"); (b) EJDC case number D-17-558626-S (the "Second Divorce Action");

³ The Divorce Decree was entered two days after the Joint Petition was filed. JA000022-39, Vol. 1.

⁴ The Subject Judgment does not specify who was harassed. JA000267-273, Vol. 2. ⁵ The Subject Judgment does not specify how the cost of litigation were increased

or how the Stantons could have obtained a divorce with less litigation costs. JA000267-273, Vol. 2.

- and (c) EJDC case number D-18-568604-Z (the "Third Divorce Action"). *Id*.
- 2 30. The District Court also relied on a minute order from Judge Rena G.
- 3 Hughes in the Second Divorce Action, which stated "the Court is aware that [Mrs.
- 4 Stanton] has a diminished capacity and lacks the ability to comprehend legal
- 5 documents or make judgments as to legal matters." JA000281 at ¶ 10, Vol. 2.

7

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

D. The District Court Disregarded the Evidence and Arguments that Warranted Reconsideration of the Subject Judgment

31. On April 15, 2019, Mr. Stanton filed his Motion for Reconsideration,
which asked the District Court to reconsider the Subject Judgment pursuant to
NRCP 59. JA000283-315, Vol. 2. Numerous issues were raised in Mr. Stanton's
Motion for Reconsideration including the fact that the Crawfords' attorney
previously represented Mrs. Stanton in the First Divorce Action, wherein Mrs.
Stanton filed a complaint for divorce against Mr. Stanton without raising any

capacity issues and without the need of a guardian. *Id*.

32. Thirty-seven exhibits were attached in support of Mr. Stanton's Motion for Reconsideration. JA000316-410, Vol. 2, JA000411-532, Vol. 3. Exhibit I to the Motion for Reconsideration was an Agreed Order from the Arkansas Court dated February 19, 2019, which stated the Arkansas Order that granted the Crawfords temporary guardianship of Mrs. Stanton had **expired by operation of law on January 24, 2019** and was thereafter "held for naught" ("Termination Order"). JA000362-364 at ¶ 4, Vol. 2 (emphasis added). The Termination Order

⁶ The Subject Judgment was entered on March 18, 2019, nearly two months after the Arkansas Order expired. JA000267-273, Vol. 2.

- 1 formally dismissed the Arkansas Case. *Id.* at \P 8.
- 2 33. On May 10, 2019, Mr. Stanton filed a Supplement to the Motion for
- 3 Reconsideration ("First Supplement"). JA000535-550, Vol. 3.
- 4 34. On May 10, 2019, Mrs. Stanton filed a Notice of Non-Opposition to
- 5 Mr. Stanton's Motion for Reconsideration. JA000551-553, Vol. 3.
- 6 35. On June 10, 2019, Mr. Stanton filed a Reply to Mrs. Stanton's Notice
- 7 of Non-Opposition. JA000557-570, Vol. 3.
- 8 36. On June 10, 2019, a hearing was scheduled for Mr. Stanton's Motion
- 9 for Reconsideration ("Continued Hearing"). JA000571-582, Vol. 3. The hearing
- was ultimately continued because Mr. Stanton had filed a motion to disqualify the
- 11 presiding judge. JA000576:17 to JA000580:23, Vol. 3.
- 12 37. On July 3, 2019, the Crawfords filed an Opposition to the Motion for
- 13 Reconsideration despite having no further claim to guardianship of Mrs.
- 14 **Stanton**. JA000583-625, Vol. 3.
- 15 38. On July 5, 2019, the Affidavit of Robert Crawford and Carmen
- 16 Crawford were filed ("Crawford Affidavits") to rebut the arguments Mr. Stanton
- 17 raised in his Motion for Reconsideration despite having no further claim to
- 18 **guardianship of Mrs. Stanton**. JA000626-629, Vol. 3.
- 19 39. On February 7, 2020, Mr. Stanton filed the Second Supplement to the
- 20 Motion for Reconsideration ("Second Supplement"). JA000630-643, Vol. 4.
- 21 40. On February 10, 2020, the District Court heard oral argument on Mr.
- 22 Stanton's Motion for Reconsideration ("Reconsideration Hearing"). JA000644-657,
- Vol. 4. Mr. Crawford appeared at the hearing by telephone despite having no

- 1 further claim to guardianship of Mrs. Stanton. JA000645-646, Vol. 4. Mr.
- 2 Stanton appeared at the hearing in person. *Id.* The District Court took the matter
- 3 under advisement after oral argument without articulating any reasoning.
- 4 JA000656:3-5, Vol. 4.
- 5 41. On February 28, 2020, the District Court entered its Final Order
- 6 denying Mr. Stanton's Motion for Reconsider. JA000658-676, Vol. 4. The District
- 7 Court reasoned, *inter alia*, that: (a) the majority of Dennis's argument could have
- 8 been previously raised or presented; (b) the deficiencies of the Crawfords'
- 9 guardianship procedure were "irrelevant"; and (c) the requested relief to reinstate
- 10 the Stantons' Joint Petition and Divorce Decree "is not appropriate as it would
- 11 require the [District] Court to readopt and reorder the questionable findings for
- 12 Twyla's income and support obligations." *Id*.

13 VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- "This is a most unusual case, one in which a person who was not a party to a
- 15 divorce action was allowed to prosecute a [claim]...in the divorce action." See
- 16 Pelletier v. Pelletier, 103 Nev. 408, 409, 742 P.2d 1027, 1027 (1987). The Court's
- opening line in the *Pelletier* decision succinctly describes the appeal presently before
- 18 the Court.
- 19 The Stantons admittedly have a complicated marital history. However, they
- 20 have a fundamental right to privacy, which includes their right to marry and divorce
- 21 (and remarry). Their Divorce Decree never should have been set aside. It was a
- 22 moot issue after they remarried. The Crawfords also had no right to interlope into
- 23 the Stantons' private divorce proceeding from Arkansas without following Nevada

- 1 law, unseal the Stantons' private divorce records, and set aside the Stantons'
- 2 amicable divorce. Upon proof the Arkansas Order expired, there was absolutely no
- 3 justification for the District Court to disregard the Stantons' desire to restore their
- 4 Divorce Decree and vacate the award for sanctions against Mr. Stanton.
- 5 Mr. Stanton is asking this Court to: (1) reverse the moot and improper Subject
- 6 Judgment; (2) vacate the award of sanctions against him; (3) restore the Divorce
- 7 Decree so the Stantons have clarity that their second marriage on December 14, 2018
- 8 was valid and is the effective date of their current marriage; and (4) strike the
- 9 Crawfords' Motion to Set Aside as a rogue filing pursuant to Mr. Stanton's
- 10 Countermotion. Reversal is warranted because the Subject Judgment violated Mr.
- 11 Stanton's constitutional rights to divorce and due process, as well as Nevada's laws
- 12 on divorce and civil procedure.

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

13 VII. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court abused its discretion in allowing the Crawfords to appear in the Stantons' divorce proceeding without moving to intervening

A district court's decision to allow a non-party to intervene in a case is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *See Hairr v. First Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 132 Nev. 180, 187, 368 P.3d 1198, 1202 (2016). Non-parties are generally not permitted to prosecute claims without first moving to intervene in the case. *See* NRCP 24; *Pelletier*, 103 Nev. at 409, 742 P.2d at 1027 (finding that the mother to a party in a divorce action was "not eligible to file a counterclaim in a divorce action in which, obviously, she was not a party"). To properly intervene, a motion to intervene "must be served on the parties" and the motion "must state the grounds for intervention and

- 1 be accompanied by a pleading that sets out the claim or defense for which
- 2 intervention is sought." See NRCP 24(c).
- 3 Here, the District Court abused its discretion in allowing the Crawfords to
- 4 appear in the Stantons' divorce proceeding without first moving to intervene. The
- 5 Crawfords' first appearance in the Stantons' divorce proceeding was filing the *Ex*
- 6 Parte Unsealing (which the District Court shockingly granted without giving the
- 7 Stantons an opportunity to protect their privacy). JA000071-73, Vol. 1.
- 8 B. The District Court erred in allowing the Crawfords to appear in the Stantons' divorce proceeding without registering their temporary foreign guardianship in Nevada
- "Standing is a question of law reviewed de novo." *Arguello v. Sunset Station*,
- 11 *Inc.*, 127 Nev. 365, 368, 252 P.3d 206, 208 (2011) (citation omitted). Likewise,
- 12 questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. See MEI-GSR Holdings,
- 13 *LLC v. Peppermill Casinos, Inc.*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 31, 416 P.3d 249, 253 (2018);
- 14 D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 125 Nev. 449, 456, 215 P.3d 697,
- 15 702 (2009). When interpreting a statute, if the statutory language is "facially clear,"
- this court must give that language its plain meaning. *Id.*
- 17 The guardianship statues in Nevada are clear: district courts may only grant
- 18 any relief available under the Uniform Adult Guardianship and Protective
- 19 Proceedings Jurisdiction Act (NRS 159.1991 to 159.2029), and other Nevada law to
- 20 enforce a foreign guardianship order if it has been properly registered in Nevada.
- 21 See Nev. Rev. Stat. §159.2027.
- To properly register a foreign guardianship order in Nevada, the guardian
- 23 appointed in the other state, after giving notice to the appointing court of an intent

1 to register and the reason for registration, must register the guardianship order in Nevada by filing as a foreign judgment in a Nevada court: (1) Certified copies of the 2 3 foreign guardianship order and letters of office; and (2) a copy of the guardian's 4 driver's license, passport, permanent resident card, tribal identification card or other 5 valid photo identification card in a sealed envelope. See Nev. Rev. Stat. §159.2025. 6 Otherwise, to act as guardian for a protected person in Nevada, a person must apply 7 for guardianship in Nevada. See NEV. REV. STAT. §159.0487 to §159.075; see also 8 In re Nickals' Estate, 21 Nev. 462, 34 P. 250, 251 (1893) ("Except as a matter of 9 comity, and to a very limited extent, guardians appointed in one state are not 10 recognized as such, or as having any power or authority, in any other state."). 11 Here, the Crawfords somehow obtained temporary guardianship of Mrs. 12 Stanton pursuant the Arkansas Order, which Mrs. Stanton challenged. JA000174-13 77, Vol. 1. However, the Crawfords never registered the Arkansas Order in Nevada. 14 It was thus plain error for the District Court to allow the Crawfords to appear in the 15 Stantons' divorce proceeding and set aside the Stantons' Divorce Decree. Cf. Baker v. Baker, 59 Nev. 163, 87 P.2d 800, 802, modified on reh'g, 59 Nev. 163, 96 P.2d 16 17 200 (1939) (jurisdiction proper where Illinois conservator was not appointed by any 18 Nevada court, but good cause existed for not seeking appointment in Nevada 19 because the defendant (1) had no estate in Nevada: (2) was not domiciled in 20 Nevada); see also Nev. Rev. Stat. §125.185.

The Crawfords appearance is distinguishable from the conservator's appearance in
 Baker because Mrs. Stanton is a resident of Nevada, holds property in Nevada

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