SUPREME COURT No. 80910

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
Electronically Filed
THE STATE OF NEVADA 10 2021 02:37 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

DENNIS VINCENT STANTON

Appellant /Cross-Respondent

- vs. -

TWYLA MARIE STANTON

Respondent/Cross-Appellant

District Court Case No.: CV-0039304

RESPONDENT'S/CROSS-APPELLANT ANSWERING BRIEF

CHRISTOPHER P. BURKE, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 004093 atty@cburke.lvcoxmail.com

218 S. Maryland Parkway Las Vegas, NV 89101

(702) 385-7987

Attorney for/Cross-Appellant

Twyla Marie Stanton

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

Summary of Argument

This is an unusual appeal in that both parties seek the *same* result. That fact, combined with the excellent brief by Appellant/Cross-Appellee, Dennis Stanton's counsel John Savage, Esq., leaves little for Respondent/Cross-Appellant to add. Accordingly, Respondent will limit this brief to a minor rewording of the issues and adding an issue by Cross-Appellant.

II

Statement Regarding NRAP 28(b)

The Respondent accepts the Appellant's Statement of Issues, with some rewording and an additional issue that is laid out below. In addition, Respondent accepts Appellant's Statement of the Case and the Statement of Facts.

III

Statement of Issues

1. Under Nevada law, a non-party foreign guardian may not collaterally attack a Nevada divorce decree without both registering the foreign order and properly intervening in a case. Here, the Crawfords did neither, and in the process, were allowed to unseal the Stantons' private

divorce records and were permitted to set aside their divorce decree. Since the Crawfords did not register the foreign order or properly intervene in the Stantons' divorce case shouldn't the lower Court's decision be reversed?

- 2. It is a constitutional violation to permit nonparty foreign residents to interfere with the right of Nevada residents to divorce. Here, the lower court allowed nonparty residents of Arkansas to interfere with the Stantons' right to divorce in Nevada by setting aside their decree of divorce. In doing so, didn't the lower court err in allowing parties without standing to file, appear and be granted their request?
- 3. To receive an award of sanctions under NRCP 11, a party needs to comply with the rule's safe harbor provisions. In addition, a court must hold an evidentiary hearing prior to deciding and ordering sanctions. Here, a non-parties were awarded sanctions despite not sending a safe harbor letter and despite the Court failing to hold an evidentiary hearing. Thus, didn't the lower court err in awarding Rule 11 sanctions?
- 4. It is a violation of the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct ("NRPC") for an attorney to represent adverse parties in substantially related matters. Here, Mrs. Stanton's former divorce attorneys later represented her mom and stepdad, the Crawfords, who set aside her divorce without Mrs.

Stanton's written consent. Thus, didn't those attorneys violate the NRPC?

IV

Argument

A. Because the Crawfords never registered their temporary foreign judgment, they had no standing to appear

A district court cannot allow a non-registered foreign guardianship to intervene in a Nevada proceeding. See NRS §159.2027. Here, there is *no* dispute that the Crawfords failed to register their foreign guardianship in Nevada. Thus, the Crawfords lacked standing to intervene in the Stantons' divorce. "Standing is the legal right to set judicial machinery in motion. *Heller v. Legislature of State of Nevada*, 120 Nev. 451, 460 (2004).

Despite their lack of standing, the District Court allowed the Crawfords to participate in setting aside the Stantons' valid divorce decree.¹ Without such standing, the District Court erred in giving the Crawfords any say in the Stantons' divorce NRS §125.185. This Court may address a standing issue *sua sponte*, whether or not that issue was raised below. Thus, the decision of the District Court should be reversed and remanded because the Crawfords had no standing to set aside the Stantons' divorce.

^{1.} The Stantons' were remarried on December 14, 2018 (JA22-38, Vol. 1, JA677-681, Vol.4).

B. The Crawfords improperly intervened in the Stantons' divorce

Generally, non-parties must to file a motion to intervene in a case before they can participate. *Pelletier v. Pelletier*, 103 Nev. 408, 409 (1987). Here, the Crawfords *never* filed a motion to intervene. NRCP 24(c). Thus, although the Crawfords *may* have had a right to intervene or the court could have granted them permissive intervention, their failure *ever* to file a motion to intervene should have barred their participation. So again, the court should have never considered the Crawfords' motion to set aside the Stantons' divorce decree (JA 71-73, Vol.1). As such, the District Court decision must be reversed and the Stantons' divorce reinstated.

C. The Stantons' divorce decree should not have been unsealed and set aside

Even if the Crawfords could intervene without moving to do so, and if they could have somehow met the standing requirement, there was still *no* legal basis upon which to unseal and set aside the Stantons' divorce.

Why? Because, when seeking their divorce, the Stantons complied with the law by using the District Court's own *approved* forms and their divorce decree was properly entered. Thus, the Stantons had a valid divorce decree. And notably, "Nevada has a strong interest in protecting its valid divorce decrees." Vaile v. Eigth Jud. Dist. Ct. ex rel. County of Clark, 118 Nev. 262, 272 (2002). Besides, no valid divorce may be contested by third parties. NRS §125.185.

That the District Court might have been concerned with Mrs. Stanton's mental capacity, and was apparently perturbed by the Stantons' failure to disclose their prior divorce attempts, neither of these circumstances should have been relevant to its decision. First of all, there was no evidentiary basis upon which the District Court could have relied to set aside the parties divorce. The minute order by Judge Hughes was "ineffective for any purpose." Rust v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist., 103 Nev.686, 689. So, the District Court "just assumed" that "based on [Mrs. Stanton's] limited mental capacity, it would be easy for [Mr. Stanton] to manipulate [Mrs. Stanton]" (JA 232;4-7, Vol.2). In addition, because information about a party's prior divorce attempts is not required on the District Court's approved forms, the failure to include such information should have had no bearing on the District Court decision (JA22-38, Vol.1).

And although it is admirable that the Court was concerned about Mrs. Stanton's mental capacity, it failed to hold an evidentiary hearing so she could be questioned under oath. Ironically, the Court also could have easily reviewed

the Stantons' prior divorce attempts, where it would have found that the only evidence of diminished capacity was a single minute order mentioning that capacity. Instead, the Court should have considered the evidence in Mr. Stanton's Motion for Reconsideration that included Mrs. Stanton's retainer agreement with her Arkansas attorney, her Objection to Guardianship, and her celebratory social media postings regarding their divorce (JA359-367, 406-407, Vol.2).

Here, there is no question the Crawfords are not parties to the Stantons' divorce decree. Thus, they are third-parties. But in Nevada, third-parties cannot collaterally attack a valid divorce decree. NRS §125.185. Yet the District Court still allowed them to collaterally attack the Stantons' valid divorce decree.

D. The District Court abused its discretion in denying Mr.Stanton's motion to reconsider

To compound the problem further, the District Court never held an evidentiary hearing prior to denying Mr. Stanton's motion to reconsider under NRCP 59. This is surprising, because *twice* the Court stated it *needed* to have an evidentiary hearing (JA244:5-8 and 250:11-13, Vol.2). The Court exacerbated its error by allowing the Crawfords to oppose that motion, especially when the Crawfords were not even guardians of Mrs. Stanton at that

point (JA 362-364, at ¶4, Vol.2). Mr. Stanton's motion should have proceeded unabated with his new evidence considered (JA 551-553, 583-629 and 644-676, Vol. 4). Yet the Court did not consider Mr. Stanton's new and dispositive evidence. Since this was not a harmless error, a reversal and remand is warranted.

E. Mr. Stanton should not have been sanctioned

Finally, if a Court wants to sanction a party, there must first be a written motion, a written notice and a hearing NRCP 11(c)(1) and (2). Here, that was not done. Obviously, a 24 minute recess is not sufficient notice. (JA 245:14-17, Vol. 2). Besides with no 21-day safe harbor letter having been sent, the Crawfords were not proper parties to receive the award of sanctions. Additionally, they were not proper parties to the action in the first place. *Young v. Nevada Title Co.*, 103 Nev. 436, 442 (1987). Thus, if this Court reverses the District Court's decision to allow the Crawfords to intervene, it should also reverse the sanctions. And even if the Crawfords somehow could have intervened, the sanctions request was not properly before the court and therefor not correctly determined.

F. The Crawfords' attorneys had a conflict of interest because of their previous representation of Twyla Stanton.

Mrs. Stanton's *previous* divorce attorneys were Christopher Owen ("Owen") and Charles Lobello ("Lobello") of the Owens Law Firm. They represented Twyla Stanton in her earlier divorce attempts (D-16-541006-D consolidated). Later, they represented the Crawfords in setting aside Mrs. Stanton's divorce decree (JA69-70 and 74-86). Their representation violated the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct ("NRCP"). The Rules prohibit an attorney from representing a party whose interest is materially adverse to another party in substantially related matters unless there is written informed consent given by the former client. See NRCP 1.9. Here, the later clients were the Crawfords, Mrs. Stanton's mom and stepdad. They were on opposing sides of each other in the Arkansas guardianship case (JA203).

In addition, the divorce actions between Mrs. Stanton and Crawfords were substantially related, as evidenced by the District Court's use of a sentence from a minute order from one of the parties prior divorce attempts as the basis of its ruling that Mrs. Stanton was incompetent. (JA281 at ¶10, Vol. 2). Although this Minute Order was a matter of public record, Owen and Lobello were privy to this obscure entry by virtue of their previous

representation of Mrs. Stanton and used it against her. Thus, they both violated NRCP 1.9.

 \mathbf{V}

Conclusion

The District Court erred in allowing a non-party, foreign guardian with an unregistered temporary order, without standing, to intervene in a Nevada divorce and to set aside a decree of divorce. The Court also erred in awarding sanctions under Rule 11 without a safe harbor letter being sent, and by not holding an evidentiary hearing. Thus, the entire District Court decision should be reversed and remanded such that the Stantons' divorce may be reinstated and the \$3,000 sanction reversed.